1. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

Assignment of Error #1: Whether the trial court erred in allowing punitive damages to be recovered without an award of compensatory or nominal damages?

Assignment of Error #2: Whether the trial court erred in its failure to apply the provisions of the prison litigation reform act to Petitioners Lunsford and Kelly?

2. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Underlying Factual Background

The underlying factual predicate to the lawsuit is not significant to the resolution of the legal issues presented in this case. However, for context, this lawsuit arises out of an incident which occurred at Western Regional Jail (hereinafter “WRJ”) on August 23, 2015. A.R.0024-0025, at ¶2. Respondent Christopher Shy (hereinafter “Inmate Shy”) alleges that Petitioners Peter Lunsford, Franklin Kelly, and Lloyd Erwin (hereinafter collectively “Correctional Officer Defendants”), used excessive force against him so as to violate his 14th Amendment rights under the United States Constitution, as well as various common law tort claims. *See generally* A.R.0024-0034. More specifically, Inmate Shy alleged that Correctional Officer Defendants Inmate Shy into a visitation room shackled and then “beat” him “about the face, neck and other body parts.” A.R.0024-0025, at ¶2. Correctional Officer Defendants denied the allegations.

B. Procedural Background

On February 29, 2016, while incarcerated, Inmate Shy commenced Civil Action Number 16-C-156 by filing a lawsuit against the Correctional Officer Defendants and the West Virginia Regional Jail and Correctional Facility Authority (“WVRJA”). A.R.0001-0003. By Order of the trial court, on December 8, 2016, Correctional Officer Defendants Lunsford and Kelly were dismissed from Civil Action Number 16-C-156 because Inmate Shy failed to timely serve these

individuals. A.R.0035. As a result, on March 8, 2017, Inmate Shy filed a subsequent Complaint against the same parties, this one bearing Civil Action Number 17-C-155. A.R.0036-0053. At the time of the filing of Civil Action Number 17-C-155, Inmate Shy was not housed in a traditional correctional facility.¹ A.R.0006. Service of Process was obtained on Correctional Officer Defendants Lunsford and Kelly in Civil Action Number 17-C-155. A.R.0006. Ultimately, on July 19, 2017, Civil Action Number 17-C-155 was consolidated with Civil Action Number 16-C-156. A.R.0054-0055. The trial court stated, in an Order drafted by Inmate Shy, “the consolidated action shall proceed under the Complaint filed in Civil Action No. 16-C-156, that all pleadings filed after the date of entry of this Order shall be filed in Civil Action No. 16-C-156” A.R.0055. In effect, Civil Action Number 17-C-155 was merely a vehicle to effectuate service against Correctional Officer Defendants Lunsford and Kelly.

On December 5, 2017, the matter proceeded to a jury trial, which lasted three days. At the close of the evidence, Correctional Officer Defendants moved for judgment as a matter of law. A.R.0006. This motion was denied. A.R.0006. After deliberations, the Jury returned a verdict finding that Correctional Officer Defendants Lunsford, Kelly and Erwin used excessive force on Inmate Shy in violation of his Fourteenth Amendment Rights under the United States Constitution and that the same defendants committed the civil tort of battery. A.R.0056-0059. The Jury did not find liability on any remaining claim. A.R.0056-0059. The Jury, however, did find that Inmate Shy suffered damages as a proximate result of the conduct of Correctional Officer Defendants, but awarded zero dollars for compensatory damages. A.R.0056-0059. Finally, the Jury found punitive damages were appropriate and awarded punitive damages payable by Correctional Officer Defendants and assessed against each, the amount of \$1,500, totaling \$4,500. A.R.0056-0059.

¹ There is confusion as to whether Inmate Shy was participating in a community correctional program or whether he was a fugitive from custody at the time of the filing of Civil Action Number 17-C-155.

Prior to dismissing the Jury, counsel for Inmate Shy requested the Jury be ordered to return to deliberation to award nominal damages. A.R.0056-0059. This request was denied. A.R.0056-0059.

Thereafter, on December 18, 2017, Correctional Officer Defendants filed their Rule 50(b) motion for judgment as a matter of law. Subsequent, on March 26, 2018, the trial court entered a Judgment Order. A.R.0056-0059. In connection with the entry of the Judgment Order, Correctional Officer Defendants filed a Rule 59(e) motion for a new trial and a Rule 50(e) motion to alter or amend the Judgment Order. A.R.0095-0111. These motions, along with the Rule 50(b) motion for judgment as a matter of law, were denied. A.R.0004-0023.

3. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The trial court erred when it allowed an award of punitive damages to stand absent an award of compensatory damages. The trial court, relying on federal law, due to the liability found related to a claim brought pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983, relied upon non-Fourth Circuit precedent in sustaining the verdict. However, the Fourth Circuit, in line with the reasoning of this Court, precludes the recovery of punitive damages absent an award of compensatory damages. Because the trial court ignored this precedent and the trial court's holding will create disharmony in West Virginia regarding the recovery of punitive damages absent an award of compensatory damages, the trial court's ruling should be overturned.

The trial court also erred in its failure to apply the Prison Litigation Reform Act limitations to Correctional Officer Defendants Lunsford and Kelly. There is no dispute that Civil Action Number 16-C-156 was "brought by" a prisoner. Because the subsequent matter was consolidated with the action "brought by" a prisoner, the Prison Litigation Reform Act applies to all parties. This position was affirmed by the Fourth Circuit Court of Appeals. Finally, public policy would

dictate that Correctional Officer Defendants Lunsford and Kelly should not be prejudiced by Inmate Shy's failure to timely serve these individuals. As a result, the trial court's ruling should be overturned.

4. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

Correctional Officer Defendants assert that oral argument is necessary and appropriate, pursuant to the criteria set forth in Rule 19 of the *West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure*. Correctional Officer Defendants further asserts that this matter may be appropriate for memorandum decision pursuant to Rule 21(d) of the *West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure*.

5. STANDARD OF REVIEW

The appellate standard of review for an order granting or denying a renewed motion for a judgment as a matter of law after trial pursuant to Rule 50(b) of the *West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure* is *de novo*. Syl. Pt. 1, *Fredeking v. Tyler*, 224 W. Va. 1, 680 S.E.2d 16 (2009).

6. ARGUMENT

A. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ALLOWING PUNITIVE DAMAGES TO BE RECOVERED WITHOUT AN AWARD OF COMPENSATORY OR NOMINAL DAMAGES.

The trial court correctly ruled that, under West Virginia law, when a jury does not award compensatory damages, a plaintiff may not recover punitive damages. A.R.0010-0011; *see also* Syl. Pt. 1, *Garnes v. Fleming Landfill, Inc.*, 186 W.Va. 656, 413 S.E.2d 897 (1991). The trial court, however, incorrectly ruled that under federal common law, an award of punitive damages may stand absent an award of compensatory damages. A.R.0014. In reaching this conclusion, the trial court relies exclusively on case law from outside of the United States Courts of Appeals for the Fourth Circuit and ignores the case law of the Fourth Circuit. This is improper, as it creates disharmony. Therefore, the trial court erred.

There is no dispute the Jury found in favor of Inmate Shy on the question of whether Correctional Officer Defendants used excessive force in violation of the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution, claim brought pursuant to federal law, 42 U.S.C. § 1983. A.R.0056-0058. Further, there is no dispute that the Jury awarded zero dollars for compensatory damages. A.R.0056-0058. However, the Jury did award punitive damages against the Correctional Officer Defendants. A.R.0056-0058. While state law would apply to the state law claims, federal law applies in analyzing the issue of whether a punitive damage award may be sustained in the absence of an award of compensatory damages pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983. *See Watts v. Laurent*, 774 F.2d 168, 179 (7th Cir. 1985) (“Federal common law principles of tort and damages govern recovery under section 1983.”); *see also* A.R.0011. As West Virginia sits in the United States Courts of Appeals for the Fourth Circuit, Fourth Circuit precedent should control in this matter.²

The Fourth Circuit has specifically held, “Thus, we are persuaded by the law of a majority of the states, the reasoning behind the law, and the federal case law applying the rule in the absence of statutory language to the contrary that punitive damages are not recoverable [without an award of compensatory damages].” *People Helpers Found. v. City of Richmond*, 12 F.3d 1321, 1327 (4th Cir. 1993). The Fourth Circuit reasoned:

[T]he belief that punitive damages are not appropriate in cases where a plaintiff has failed to demonstrate actionable harm. *See* James A. Ghiardi & John J. Kircher, *Punitive Damages: Law and Practice*, § 5.37 (1985 and Supp. 1993). When a plaintiff has failed to prove actionable harm, compensatory damages are not recoverable and logically it follows that punitive damages are also barred. To

² While Justice Clarence Thomas has opined that “[N]either federal supremacy nor any other principle of federal law requires that a state court’s interpretation of federal law give way to a (lower) federal court’s interpretation[.]” *Lockhart v. Fretwell*, 506 U.S. 364, 376 (1993) (Thomas, J. concurring), it logically follows that this Court would want to be consistent with the Fourth Circuit when the U.S. Supreme Court has not ruled on a particular issue. Otherwise, significant disharmony would occur for claims brought pursuant to a federal statute within West Virginia depending upon whether it was filed in state court or federal court.

hold otherwise would create a windfall by allowing the recovery of damages when no actionable harm has been suffered.

People Helpers, 12 F.3d at 1327. This is consistent with this Court's position on punitive damages. Specifically, this Court stated "Punitive damages should bear a reasonable relationship to the potential of harm caused by the defendant's actions and that generally means that punitive damages must bear a reasonable relationship to actual damages because compensatory damages provide a reasonable measure of likely harm." *Garnes*, 186 W. Va. at 667, 413 S.E.2d at 908.

Finally, the Fourth Circuit's holding in *People Helpers* has been followed by courts within the Fourth Circuit to preclude the recovery of punitive damages where there has been no award of compensatory damages in 42 U.S.C. § 1983 claims. *See e.g. Cowick v. Glen Campbell Det. Ctr.*, No. 5:17-cv-03001-JFA-KDW, 2018 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 20857, at *6 (D.S.C. Jan. 3, 2018) (precluding recovery of punitive damages without an award of compensatory damages in a 42 U.S.C. § 1983 case); *see also Givens v. O'Quinn*, 447 F. Supp. 2d 593, 602 n.5 (W.D. Va. 2006). Therefore, based upon the authority of the Fourth Circuit, there is no entitlement to an award of punitive damages when there has been no award of compensatory damages.

Despite the above, the trial court relies on non-Fourth Circuit precedent to allow an award of punitive damages absent an award of compensatory damages to stand. This ruling is inconsistent with State law and Fourth Circuit precedent, as well as creates inconsistent results within West Virginia. For example, the trial court relied upon *Basista v. Weir*, a 1965 case from the Third Circuit. In that case, the Third Circuit's view was that federal common law allowed for the recovery of punitive damages absent an award of compensatory or nominal damages. *See Basista v. Weir*, 340 F.2d 74, 87 (3d Cir. 1965). This, however, is a different interpretation of the federal common law as reviewed by the Fourth Circuit in a case decided over 25 years later. *See People Helpers*, 12 F.3d at 1327. The Fourth Circuit's interpretation of the federal common law

on damage is “[i]n the absence of a specific statutory directive on this issue, *federal courts* have chosen to apply the majority rule that punitive damages are not recoverable when compensatory damages have not been awarded.” *Id.* Reliance, therefore, on *Basista* is unsuitable in this matter.

Additionally, the trial court relies upon a Second Circuit case of *King v. Marci*, 993 F.2d 294 (2d Cir. 1993). In *King*, however, the Second Circuit recognized that the issue of whether recovery of punitive damages absent an award of compensatory damages in a 42 U.S.C. § 1983 is split among the Circuits. *King v. Macri*, 993 F.2d 294, 297 (2d Cir. 1993) (“Though case law is divided on whether punitive damages may be awarded in the absence of a compensatory award . . .”). The Fourth Circuit falls within the group of Circuits prohibiting the award of punitive damages absent an award of compensatory damages. Additionally, *King* is factually inconsistent with this matter, as the jury in *King* was specifically instructed that it may award punitive damages absent an award of compensatory damages. *Id.* No such instruction was given here. As a result, reliance upon the Second Circuit case is improper due to the legal and factual distinctions.

In sum, while other Courts of Appeals may allow for such a recovery of punitive damages absent an award of compensatory damages, the Fourth Circuit and West Virginia do not. In order to create harmony and consistency between federal claims litigated either in a West Virginia state court or a federal court within West Virginia, this Court should adopt the Fourth Circuit precedent. Otherwise, disharmony would occur, creating confusion and inconsistent results. *See Monessen S. W. Ry. Co. V. Morgan*, 486 U.S. 330, 335 (1988) (indicating that a federal cause of action is a strong Congressional indication of the federal interest in the uniformity of remedies available to a party aggrieved). As a result, the trial court’s ruling allowing the award of punitive damages to be sustained absent an award of compensatory damages must be overruled.

B. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ITS FAILURE TO APPLY THE PROVISIONS OF THE PRISON LITIGATION REFORM ACT TO PETITIONERS LUNSFORD AND KELLY.

The trial court refused to apply the Prison Litigation Reform Act, 42 U.S.C. § 1997e (“PLRA”) to Correctional Officer Defendants Lunsford and Kelly because, at the time Inmate Shy filed the second civil action, Civil Action Number 17-C-155, Inmate Shy was not housed in a traditional correctional facility. A.R.0019. The PLRA places limitations on actions brought by “prisoners.” *See generally* 42 U.S.C. § 1997e. The term “prisoner” is defined as “any person incarcerated or detained in any facility who is accused of, convicted of, sentenced for, or adjudicated delinquent for, violations of criminal law or the terms and conditions of parole, probation, pretrial release, or diversionary program.” 42 U.S.C. § 1997e(h). There is no dispute that at the time Inmate Shy filed Civil Action Number 16-C-156, he was a “prisoner” under the PLRA and subject to the limitations set forth therein.

However, at the time Inmate Shy filed the second civil action, a move necessitated solely by Inmate Shy’s inability to timely perfect service, even after an extension, A.R.0001, Inmate Shy was no longer confined in a traditional correctional facility. This fact is of no consequence because the matter was consolidated with the civil action wherein Inmate Shy was a “prisoner” as defined by the PLRA. *See Montcalm Publ. Corp. v. Virginia*, 199 F.3d 168 (4th Cir. 1999). In *Montcalm*, two inmates instituted a civil action against a Virginia correctional facility alleging a violation of their First Amendment rights due to a denial of access to magazines of a sexually explicit nature. *Montcalm Publ. Corp. v. Virginia*, 199 F.3d 168, 170 (4th Cir. 1999). A year after the initiation of the action, Montcalm Publishing Corporation intervened into the action. Obviously, Montcalm Publishing Corporation was not an inmate or otherwise constituted a “prisoner” for purposes of the PLRA. After prevailing, Montcalm Publishing Corporation sought its attorneys’ fees. The

trial court, however, limited recovery in accordance to the mandates of the PLRA. *Montcalm Publ. Corp. v. Virginia*, 199 F.3d 168, 171 (4th Cir. 1999).

On appeal, the Fourth Circuit upheld the application of the PLRA to the non-prisoner Montcalm Publishing Corporation. In so reasoning, the Fourth Circuit applied the plain language of the statute. Specifically,

The PLRA expressly imposes limitations on the amount of attorney's fees awarded "in any action brought by a prisoner who is confined to any jail, prison, or other correctional facility." 42 U.S.C. § 1997e(d)(1). Thus, Congress has mandated that statutory fee limits apply not "solely to prisoners" but to "any action brought by a prisoner." Unquestionably, the case at hand is one "brought by a prisoner." Indeed, two prisoners, Hodges and Flora, initiated this case; Montcalm merely intervened. Thus, application of the PLRA is inescapable.

Montcalm Publ. Corp. v. Virginia, 199 F.3d 168, 171-72 (4th Cir. 1999). Here, the civil action for which this matter has proceeded, 16-C-156, was "brought by a prisoner." Applying the logic of *Montcalm*, the limitations provided by the PLRA should be applied to Correctional Officer Defendants Lunsford and Kelly.

Moreover, public policy dictates that Correctional Officer Defendants Lunsford and Kelly should be entitled to the limitations imposed by the PLRA. Procedurally, Correctional Officer Defendants Lunsford and Kelly were both parties to the civil action for which Inmate Shy was a "prisoner" as defined by PLRA. Only due to the failure of Inmate Shy to timely serve these individuals do they not receive the benefit of PLRA. This is significantly prejudicial to Correctional Officer Defendants Lunsford and Kelly, a prejudice which befalls them due to the failures of Inmate Shy. Clearly, prejudicing these individuals to the benefit of Inmate Shy is improper.

Finally, the trial court's ruling creates a fractured application of the PLRA. While the trial court discounted the application of the PLRA to the punitive damage award, assuming the verdict