ARGUMENT

Standard of Review

Respondent partially accepts the Petitioners' *de novo* standard of review in regard to a lower Court Order denying a renewed motion for a judgment as a matter of law after Trial pursuant to Rule 50(b) of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure. However, when considering the lower Court standard and burden thereof, Rule 50 states, in pertinent part:

- (b) Renewal of motion for judgment after trial; alternative motion for new trial. —
- If, for any reason, the court does not grant a motion for judgment as a matter of law made at the close of all the evidence, the court is considered to have submitted the action to the jury subject to the court's later deciding the legal questions raised by the motion. The movant may renew the request for judgment as a matter of law by filing a motion no later than 10 days after entry of judgment and may alternatively request a new trial or join a motion for a new trial under Rule 59. In ruling on a renewed motion, the court may:
- (1) If a verdict was returned:
 - (A) allow the judgment to stand,
 - (B) order a new trial, or

(C) direct entry of judgment as a matter of law.

The lower Court considered the legal arguments proffered by Petitioners and disagreed with the same. In fact, the June 1, 2018 Order is replete with detailed findings of fact and conclusions of law which clearly solidify Shy's positions. Further, as stated, post-Trial Motions must be taken in a light most favorable to the non-moving and/or prevailing party, in this case, Respondent Shy.

1. The Trial Court did not err in allowing punitive damages to be recovered without an award of compensatory damages.

As argued in the lower Court, Petitioners claim in 42 U.S.C. § 1983 actions, punitive damages cannot be awarded lest compensatory damages are awarded by the jury. However, they base their argument on non-42 U.S.C. § 1983 cases and opinions which defy the standard and uniformity in civil rights violations cases throughout the federal court system, to which Shy believes this Court must adhere.

By way of background, 42 U.S.C. § 1983 was enacted to give people a remedy because it was feared that adequate protection of federal rights might not be available in state courts. To establish a claim under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 against a defendant, a plaintiff must establish, by a preponderance of the evidence, each of the following three elements: First, that the conduct complained of was committed by a person acting under color of state law. Second, that this conduct deprived a plaintiff of rights, privileges or immunities secured by the constitution or laws of the United States. Third, that the defendant's acts were the proximate cause of the injuries and consequent damages sustained by the plaintiff.

In making their argument, Petitioners state West Virginia law dictates punitive damages cannot be awarded unless the jury awards compensatory damages as it creates disharmony in both the federal and state levels. While that position may be correct in state

law tort cases, it is inapposite of federal law. First, in regard to 42 U.S.C. § 1983 cases, Petitioners are incorrect as 42 U.S.C. § 1983 is a federal statute in which federal Courts dictate the law. Second, even if their ill-founded argument was legitimate, Petitioners acquiesced when they objected to Shy's request to send the jury into further deliberations to determine compensatory damages, at the very least nominal damages. (7, 72). Respondent Shy cannot be held responsible for Petitioners' disallowance of a curing jury instruction. Curative jury instructions are common in both civil and criminal matters. To that end, Petitioners' position fails.

Further, when addressing federal court analyses concerning 42 U.S.C. § 1983, Petitioners fail to make a distinction between non-42 U.S.C. § 1983 cases and other matters. For example, in relying on People Helpers Found. v. City of Richmond, 12 F.3d. 1321 (1993), Petitioners state the Fourth Circuit agrees with their position. People Helpers is likewise a non-42 U.S.C. § 1983 matter in which this Court should give no credence in that regard. However, the fact that the Fourth Circuit stated "[a] majority of the fifty states prohibit punitive damages awards when a finder of fact fails to award compensatory damages" clearly denotes the state common law contention by the Petitioners is correct *in regard to non-42 U.S.C. § 1983 matters*. Shy addresses this portion of the People Helper's opinion to stress the Fourth Circuit's failure to offer an opinion concerning the the issue of 42 U.S.C. § 1983 damages related to this matter in which most federal circuits have found that damages are damages, be they compensatory or punitive.

Petitioners also rely on a federal magistrate's ruling in Cowick v. Glen Campbell Det. Ctr., No. 5:17-cv-03001-JFA-KDW, 2018, (D.S.C. Jan. 3, 2018). In Cowick, the pro se

inmate plaintiff filed a civil action under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 seeking two (2) remedies of \$5,000.00 in punitive damages (plaintiff did not seek compensatory/nominal damages) and that state assault and battery charges be brought against the offending officer. In the federal magistrate's report, it held plaintiff "fails to state a plausible claim for punitive damages against either Defendant because he seeks only punitive damages and does not include a request for compensatory or nominal damages." The plaintiff was permitted to file objections to the magistrate report, failed to do so and the U.S. District Judge dismissed the matter, without prejudice, on February 7, 2018.1 To that end, Petitioners' reliance on *Cowick* is likewise inapplicable to the facts and law surrounding this matter.

What is applicable is the plethora of federal circuit court opinions in support of Shy's contention and the lower Court's June 1, 2018 Order. As evident by the lower Court's Order, it spent dozens of hours conducting legal research and drafting such a detailed document.² To that end, Shy mainly relies on the contents of the June 1, 2018 Order which denied the relief requested by Petitioners in this appeal. However, further legal analysis is warranted.

In <u>Basista v. Weir</u>, 340 F.2d 74 (3rd Cir. 1965), the Third Circuit held federal common law on damages must be applied to 42 U.S.C. § 1983 actions, rather than the state's law on damages, to provide national uniformity in such actions. That Court further held without such uniformity, "the Civil Rights Acts would fail to effect the purposes and ends which [United States] Congress intended." <u>Id</u>. at 86.

¹ As the *Cowick* matter was dismissed without prejudice, it is uncertain if the *pro se* plaintiff obtained counsel and pursued any appellate measures or re-filed pursuant to federal law.

² Shy would be remiss in not informing the Court that the lower Court disregarded the parties' respective submitted proposed Orders and researched and drafted its own. In fact, Shy's proposed Order was seven (7) pages and Petitioners' proposed Order was six (6) pages. The lower Court's June 1, 2018 Order was twenty (20) pages.

The lower Court further relied on <u>King v. Macri</u>, 993 F.2d 294 (2d. Circ. 1993), wherein the United States Court of Appeals, Second Circuit, held as follows:

Though case law is divided on whether punitive damages may be awarded in the absence of a compensatory award, see 1 Linda L. Schlueter & Kenneth R. Redden, Punitive Damages § 6.1(D)(4)(c), (d) (2d ed. 1989), we have indicated that such an award may be made in section 1983 cases, see Stolberg v. Members of Board of Trustees, 474 F.2d 485, 489 (2d Cir.1973), as have most courts of appeals, see Glover v. Alabama Dep't of Corrections, 734 F.2d 691, 694 (11th Cir.1984), rev'd on other grounds, 474 U.S. 806, 106 S.Ct. 40, 88 L.Ed.2d 33 (1985); McCulloch v. Glasgow, 620 F.2d 47, 51 (5th Cir.1980); Guzman v. Western State Bank of Devils Lake, 540 F.2d 948, 953 (8th Cir.1976); Silver v. Cormier, 529 F.2d 161, 163-64 (10th Cir.1976); Spence v. Staras, 507 F.2d 554, 558 (7th Cir.1974); Gill v. Manuel, 488 F.2d 799, 802 (9th Cir.1973); Basista v. Weir, 340 F.2d 74, 87-88 (3d Cir.1965). We first took this approach at the end of the last century, in a case involving common-law copyright infringement. Press Publishing Co. v. Monroe, 73 F. 196, 201 (2d Cir.), writ of error dismissed, 164 U.S. 105, 17 S.Ct. 40, 41 L.Ed. 367 (1896).

<u>Id.</u>, at 297-8. The <u>King</u> Court further held "[i]f any threshold requirement is to be imposed upon an award of punitive damages for a claim of excessive force, it should only be that the evidence would have supported an award of compensatory damages, not that compensatory damages were actually awarded." <u>Id.</u>, at 298.

The Seventh Circuit Court of Appeals likewise has addressed the issue of punitive damages awarded in the absence of compensatory or nominal damages in 42 U.S.C. § 1983 matters. In Erwin v. County of Manitowoc, 872 F.2d 1292 (7th Cir. 1989), that Court held:

The question remains whether punitive damages can be awarded when the jury has awarded no compensatory or at least nominal damages to a particular plaintiff. Punitive damages (as awarded here) are applicable even in the absence of actual damages, Sahagian v. Dickey, 827 F.2d 90, 100 (7th Cir.1987); McKinley v. Trattles, 732 F.2d 1320, 1326 (7th Cir.1984), despite local law to the contrary. Wilson v. Taylor, 658 F.2d 1021, 1033 (5th Cir.1981). Although state law may not allow punitive damages without a compensatory award, under federal law, when a jury finds a constitutional violation under a Sec. 1983 claim, it may award punitive damages even when it does not award compensatory damages. The scope of punitive damages in Sec. 1983 actions is governed by the "federal common law of damages" which imposes uniformity when enforcing the Civil Rights Acts. Lenard v. Argento, 699 F.2d 874, 897 (7th Cir.1983); Basista v. Weir,

340 F.2d 74, 87 (3d Cir.1965).

<u>Id.</u>, at 1299. Simply put, the Seventh Circuit concurs with the majority of other jurisdictions in that juries can award punitive damages in 42 U.S.C. § 1983 matters without awarding compensatory or nominal damages, even though state laws may disallow the same.

In refuting a similar argument proffered by Petitioners in this matter, the First Circuit Court of Appeals held in Campos-Orrego v. Rivera, 175 F.3d 89 (1st Cir. 1999), that:

Though couched in terms of familiar principles, Rivera's objection actually rests on a fundamental misapprehension. While it is true that in a typical state-law tort case punitive damages unaccompanied by either compensatory or nominal damages cannot stand, see, e.g., Cooper Distrib. Co. v. Amana Refrig'n, Inc., 63 F.3d 262, 281-83 (3d Cir.1995) (applying New Jersey law); Restatement (Second) of Torts § 908 cmts. b, c (1979), a section 1983 case premised on a constitutional violation evokes a different set of considerations. Several respected courts have ruled persuasively that, as a matter of federal law, a punitive damage award which responds to a finding of a constitutional breach may endure even though unaccompanied by an award of compensatory damages. See, e.g., King v. Macri, 993 F.2d 294, 297-98 (2d Cir.1993); Erwin v. County of Manitowoc, 872 F.2d 1292, 1299 (7th Cir.1989).

<u>Id.</u>, at 97. Concerning Shy's efforts to correct what Petitioners claim to be an inconsistent jury verdict, the First Circuit held "[p]arties confronted by an internally inconsistent jury verdict have an obligation to call the inconsistency to the trial judge's attention. See, e.g., <u>Toucet v. Maritime</u>

<u>Overseas Corp.</u>, 991 F.2d 5, 8 (1st Cir.1993); <u>Austin v. Lincoln Equip. Assocs.</u>, <u>Inc.</u>, 888 F.2d

934, 939 (1st Cir.1989)." <u>Id.</u>, at 98. Basically, Petitioners had an obligation to attempt to rectify the jury verdict but, as stated, failed to agree with Shy and send the jury to further deliberate compensatory or nominal damages.

The First Circuit further relied on <u>Campos-Orrego v. Rivera</u> in distinguishing between state tort cases and 42 U.S.C. § 1983 matters in other opinions. In <u>De Jesus Nazario v. Morris Rodriguez</u>, 664 F.3d 196 (1st Cir. 2009), that court not only subscribed to <u>Campos-Orrego v.</u>

Rivera, but also listed several other circuit courts which did the same. The First Circuit held:

The other circuits that have considered this issue unanimously follow the rule announced in Basista. See, e.g., Robinson v. Cattaraugus County, 147 F.3d 153, 161 (2d Cir.1998); King v. Macri, 993 F.2d 294, 297-98 (2d Cir.1993); ACORN Fair Hous., 211 F.3d at 302 (citing Ryland v. Shapiro, 708 F.2d 967, 976 (5th Cir. 1983); Wilson v. Taylor, 658 F.2d 1021, 1033 (5th Cir. Unit B. Oct.1981); McCulloch v. Glasgow, 620 F.2d 47, 51 (5th Cir. 1980)); Erwin v. County of Manitowoc, 872 F.2d 1292, 1299 (7th Cir.1989); Salitros v. Chrysler Corp., 306 F.3d 562, 574 (8th Cir.2002) (citing Goodwin v. Cir. Ct. of St. Louis County, 729 F.2d 541, 548 (8th Cir.1984); Risdal v. Halford, 209 F.3d 1071, 1072 (8th Cir.2000)); Gill v. Manuel, 488 F.2d 799, 802 (9th Cir.1973); Searles v. Van Bebber, 251 F.3d 869, 880-81 (10th Cir.2001); Davis v. Locke, 936 F.2d 1208, 1214 (11th Cir.1991) (citing Wilson v. Taylor, 658 F.2d at 1033).

<u>Id.</u>, at 205. The First Circuit further stressed the importance of uniformity among the circuits concerning this issue. <u>Id.</u>

In <u>Davis v. Mason Cty.</u>, 927 F.2d 1473 (9th Cir. 1991)(superseded by other grounds), the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals had an opportunity to address the 42 U.S.C. § 1983 damages issue. The <u>Davis</u> plaintiff was awarded \$0.00 in compensatory damages and \$25,000.00 in punitive damages in his 42 U.S.C. § 1983 lawsuit. That Court upheld the verdict, stating "[t]he deputies' argument that the jury erred in awarding punitive damages while not awarding compensatory damages fails. The [United States] Supreme Court has held that punitive damages may be available under Section 1983 where there has been a violation of constitutional rights even though the victim is unable to show compensable injury. <u>Smith v. Wade</u>, 461 U.S. at 55 n. 21, 103 S.Ct. at 1639 n. 21."3

While Shy could continue citing and referring to many United States Circuit Court opinions, the information would lead this Court to one conclusion – in 42 U.S.C. § 1983 civil

^{3 &}lt;sup>21.</sup> "Moreover, after <u>Carey punitive</u> damages may be the only significant remedy available in some § 1983 actions where constitutional rights are maliciously violated but the victim cannot prove compensable injury." <u>Carlson</u>, 446 U.S., at 22, n. 9, 100 S.Ct., at 1473, n. 9.

actions, a prevailing plaintiff can recover punitive damages in the absence of compensatory and nominal damages and uniformity among the circuits is paramount. Petitioners offer no case law to counter this undisputed fact save for a federal magistrate's ruling in South Carolina wherein the facts are not remotely similar to the facts of this matter and the many opinions addressed above. Further, the lower Court's June 1, 2018 Order is replete with law, analyses and theories which disputes Petitioners' contentions. To that end, this Court should summarily DENY Petitioners' appeal concerning the 42 U.S.C. § 1983 damages issue.

2. The Trial Court did not err in its failure to apply the provisions of the Prison Litigation Reform Act (PLRA) to Petitioners Peter Lunsford and Franklin Kelly.

Petitioners contend the lower Court erred in not applying the Prison Litigation Reform Act to all three (3) individual offending officers, Petitioners in this matter. However, they offer no meaningful or plausible analysis to counter the lower Court's June 1, 2018 Order. The Prison Litigation Reform Act of 1995 (PLRA) was passed to limit frivolous lawsuits filed by incarcerated individuals. Another aspect and reason for the PLRA was to limit attorney fees at one hundred-fifty percent (150%) of recovered damages in regard to lawsuits filed on behalf of incarcerated litigants. When lawsuits are filed on behalf of formerly incarcerated litigants, the PLRA is inapplicable.

In this matter, it is undisputed Shy was incarcerated when his first lawsuit (Civil Action No.: 16-C-156) was filed on February 29, 2016. (24). However, Petitioners Lunsford and Kelly were dismissed, without prejudice, by and through a December 8, 2016 Order. (35). Having sole discretion in allowing the 16-C-156 matter to proceed without Petitioners Lunsford and Kelly, Shy decided to re-file against these officers on or about March 9, 2017 and that civil matter is denoted as Civil Action No.: 17-C-155. (36). It is also undisputed Shy was not incarcerated at

the time of the filing of his second Complaint. An Order consolidating the two (2) cases was entered on July 19, 2017. (54). However, all parties continued filing pleadings, discovery, discovery responses and Trial documents under both civil action numbers and the verdict form denotes the same. In fact, Petitioners' Notice of Appeal and subsequent appellate documents, including Petitioners' Brief, contain both civil action numbers.

First, in response to Petitioners' claim Shy is to blame for not being able to serve Petitioners Lunsford and Kelly, both of these offending officers had left the employ of Western Regional Jail when the original Complaint was filed as they were terminated. Petitioner Erwin was served at WRJ as he was the remaining officer employed there. Also, Petitioners' counsel refused to accept service on behalf of Lunsford and Kelly in the 16-C-156 matter upon request from Shy's counsel. As Shy's counsel has been involved in several lawsuits with WVRJA and its offending officers, this is common. Basically, Shy did not rest on his laurels in attempting to serve Petitioners Lunsford and Kelly and should not be blamed for failure to timely serve the summonses and complaints. Nevertheless, that issue is irrelevant.

Second, Shy and his counsel did not know Shy would be released at any time after his conviction and there was no strategy involved regarding the same. Cabell County Circuit Court Judge Paul T. Farrell sentenced Shy to a lengthy sentence prior to the inception of the first civil matter and that sentence was not adjudicated to an alternative sentence until shortly before filing the re-filed Complaint. (36).

Third, Judge Jane Hustead's December 8, 2016 Order dismissed Petitioners Lunsford and Kelly without prejudice. (35). At that time they were not parties and there were many reasons why they should or should not be brought back into litigation. However, after consultation with

counsel, Shy decided to initiate another lawsuit as it was his right under West Virginia law.

Fourth, it is obvious from the Agreed Order Consolidating Civil Matters that no party objected to the contents of the Order. (54). If Petitioners believed it was in their best interests to proceed under one case, 16-C-156, and dismiss the 17-C-155 matter to their benefit, they had ample opportunity to address the issue. However, the Order of Consolidation was agreed upon, signed by all parties and acquiesced. Also, if Petitioners desired additional language denoting the positions they hold in this appeal, they should have voiced the same and not agreed to the contents and holdings in the Agreed Order. They did not and their objections should be waived.

Fifth, Shy did not have to agree to consolidate the civil matters pursuant to Rule 42 of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure. Out of judicial economy Shy chose to consolidate both lawsuits and, as stated above, the parties agreed. There is nothing in the record or any evidence Petitioners can allude to which denotes the Agreed Order consolidating the two (2) civil matter entered on July 19, 2017 was a dismissal of the 17-C-155 matter.

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